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SECTION 00
Grave Area : 1949

The gift of one hundred end fifty dollars received by the
School from members of the group which attended the AMAG Saturday
lectures made possible two and a half weeks of exploration in the
{mmediate vicinity of the Early Geometric burial uncovered in 1948,
The extent of the area investigated was about 8 m. by 12 m.. along the
@ast wall of the Great Drain, just north of 1ts east-west brldge. Two
Geometric graves were uncovered; also walls and drainage systems

belonging to industrial esteblishments of the later sixth and

f£1fth centuries, and sporadie remains from later periods.

The Geometric Gmves
The two graves found in 1949 have been numbered consecutively

with the one found in 1948, as follows:

00: Grave 1, 1948 : Cremation burial of a woman

00: Grave 2, 1949 : Pithos burial of a ehild

00: Grave 3, 1949 : Cremation burial of a warrior

The earlier of the two burlals found in 1949 (Grave 3)
lay about three meters east of the grave found in 1948. The grave
was roughly rectangular in shape, ca. 0.90 x 0.60 x 0.60?&oop with
the longer dimension running east-west. On the east the grave was
cut into the rising slopes of the bedrock; on the west, apparently
through earth f£1lling now lost, to the bedrock in which a shallow
ecutting remains to indicate the original area of the grave floor.
Although subsequent constructions had eaten away at the packing both
on east and on west, the burial {tself was untouched.

The eastern half of the grave had been deepened to form an
ovel hole 0.58 m. below the level of the grave floor. Into this
hole the burial urn, a neck amphora 04§53 m. in height (P 2B177)
had been set upright. A large fleld stone, rising slightly above
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the level of the upper floor, closed the mouth of the urn. Around
the stone lay a packing of small stones in turn surrounded by a
ring of larger fleld stones open on the west where the packing

had spilled over onto the grave floor. In this packing were found
burnt and unburnt fragments of pottery, lumps of charcoal and
pleces of carbonized figs and grapes, evidently sweeépings from the
pyre which had been burnt elsewhere. 1In the packing below the rim
of the emphora these sweepings did not appear. The stones were set
elosely around the neck and shoulders of the vase down to 1ts point

of greatest diameter where the walls of the pit became just large

enough to contain the vase.

To the north and northwest of the amphora, at the level of its
iron
shoulder, had been placed the/tools and weapons of the deceased.

These had apparently been laid on the pyre with the body and, after
the eremation, had been gathered up into cloth parcels: clear traces

of fabrie, both warp and woof, are visible on one fragment. These

teols and weapons are as follows:

Two spear heads: the larger, IL 1057, 0.37 m. long; the
smaller, IL 1059, 0.28 m. long.

Two objeets in shape like a snaffle bit, and fashloned
of interlocking twisted strands of metal: the larger,
IL 1063, ca. 0.28 m, long; the smaller, IL 1066, ca. D.24 m.
long.

Two knives with semilunar blades and tangs for hafting:
IL 1061 and IL 1065.

A small chisel, rectangular in seectlion, with a rounded
cutting edge at one end and a point at the other: IL 1061.

A loop with prongs, rectangular in section, the ends bent
bock as if to secure a flat plece of wood: IL 1064. This
plece must have fallen outside the pyre, for tragces of wood
fibvre adhere to it.

A large chisel with ears for hafting, bound to a whetstone
egainst which it 1s now corroded: IL 1062 and ST 463.

In addition to these implements set beside the amphora, a

large iron sword (IL 1058) had been bent into a hoop .and set around
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the neck and shoulders of tﬁc vase. The sword 1s 0.88 m. in

length, with a hdlt flanged to recelve wooden plates attached by

three iron rivets.

TPo the north of the amphora, just above the principal cluster
of iron objects, lay foups vases: a goblet (P 20179), a kantharos
(P 20180), and an oinochoe (P 20178) its mouth c¢losed by a small
cup (P 20181). These pots, whole and unburnt, contained only
earth.

In the burial urn were the partly cremated bones of a male,
described by J. L. Angel as about 34 years old; with these remains
were also two small bone rings (BI 641). The jar, above the bones,
had filled to about half its height with silt which hed sifted
through the packing into the grave.

From the pyre-sweepings there were further recovered two
fragmentary vases, severely burned, and a clay ball; likewlse am fragment of an
iron pin which had apparently been overlookdd® when the larger imple~
ments were gathere& up to t» deposited in the grave.

Oinochoe (P 2“:185).
Globular pyxis with 1id (P 20182): part of the 11d from
a f1l1ling of the laster sixth ecentury below the floor

of House G.
Clay ball (MC B02).
Iron pin, rectangular in section (IL 1067).
The vases from this burial are decorated in a style transitional
between Protogeometric and Geometric. The grave 1s thus contemporary

with the burial found in 1948, and may be dated to about 900 B.C.
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A later burial, the pithos burial of a child (00: Grave 2)
was found about two meters to the northwest of Grave 3. The grave
sutting is a roughly rectangular pit, 1.30 x 1,0 m., its depth
varying from 0.70 to 5105 me The floor of the pit had been shaped
somewhat in conformity with the burial urn, & large undecorated
pithos (P 20088: Height 0,80 m; diams 052 me) which lay on its
gide, the mouth, towards the east, resting slightly higher than the
foot, The mouth of the jar had been closed with a flat unworked
stone (0.25 x 0.37 x 0,024 m.) which had settled a bit lower than
the rim of the jar and tilted slightly away from it. Upright
against the neck of the plthos stood a coarse round-mouthed pitcher
(P 20087) its mouth iikewlse closed by an irregularly shaped fleld
stone and its walls blackened from household use. The pitcher cone
tained only earth, A rather loose stone packing was found around
the lower part of the pithos, extending no more than half way up its
sides; avove this the pit contained only soft earth.

The pithos itself was about . half filled with earth., In it
were found the unburnt bones of an infant slightly under one year
old (J.L. Angel), and the grave offerings consisting of eight small

vases, at least three of them miniatures, and some small fragments

of jewelry of lead and silver alloj (F 118). The vases are as follows!

Miniature jug: P 20079 Skyphos : P 20083

Small squat lekythés: P 20080 Bowl with ribbon handles: P 20084
Ministure skyphos:P 20081 High-rimned bowl: P 20085
Miniature kantharos: P 20082 Small oinochoa&: P 20086

The finest and perhaps the earliest of these pleces 1s the high-rimmed
bowl, on the rim of which are two metopes, front and back centred between
the handles on the bowl. In each is a fat goose with two short legs
and a long thin neck growing out of the body in a broad S-curve. The
body 1s delicately scored and the neck only slightly thiekened to
indicate a silhouette head ending in a long thin beak.
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The pithos burial 1s thus at least 150 years later than
the two eremation burials found in the same area, for it belongs
at the earliest to the beginning of the Late Geometrie perlod.
If, as seems likely, these burials formed part of a family plet,
other graves belonging to the intervening years might be expeected
close by. Sherds belonging to all periods of the Geometriec style
were 'n fsct abundant in the area, especislly toward the south.
Some of these came from unusually large and elaborate vases, such
gs are more gommonly sssoclated with funerary than with domestie
use. several cuttings found in the bedrock, bearing no relation
to the later deposits which had fi1lled them, may once have held
some of the burials from which these pottery fragments came. A
rim fragment, from an amphora,decorated with plastic snakes of a
kind sssoclated exclusively with graves, suggests that the cemetery
econtinued to be used through the end of the Geometriec period, and
possibly longer since the earliest remains of bulldings in the area

belong to the last years of the sixth century.

Industrial Establishments of the Later Sixth Century

Some time in the middle of the sixth century some of the

more prominent irregularities in the bedrock,whiohvixjih&a—agea

slopes rapidly down towards the west,were filled in with a deposit
of gravel over much of the southern part of the area, iinor
aceomodations presumably in conunection with individual bulldings
were effected with less substantial fills of the same time. At
least five walls may be assoclated with later sixth century con<

structions; these are described below.
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House G and related: About 3 m. east of the east wall of
the Great Drain lay two walls meeting at right angles in a well
bonded corner, pointed due west, Both are eonstructed of rubble
masonry carefully lald with a more or less regular western face,
The east wing 1s 1l.70 m. long, 0.45 m, wide.and appears to be pre-
served to its full height, 0,28 me on the east, where it rests
upon bedrock, dropping to 0.48 m. at the west corner above the
%alficta £111, The southwest wall is 5,80 ms lomg, from 0.25 to
0.45 m, wide, and has a miximum preserved helght of 0.58 m. It
likewise rests upon kgiiita and again in the extreme scuth upon
bedrock. Here a second corner and stones possibly belonging to a
return to the eanﬁ were found, To the east, within the angle of
the walls, no budlt floor was found, but its level nearly equal to
the height of the.northoast wall is given by the platesu cut in
bedrock ca., 1.50 m, east of the corner, At the beginning of the
fifth eentury, the ground level ocutside the house was ralsed to
within 0,05 m. of the teop of the walls, and a firm gravelly surfacing
laid, Along the northeast face of the wall a length of cover tile,
concave side up and sloping towards the Great Drain was set into this
gravel surface, A similar cover tile resting in a shallow chennel
cut into the higher bedrock to the east forms, with this tile, part
of a'small drainage system belonging to the last years of the house,

Above thils and extending over the entire house ares was found a

destruction layer contained many small stones and broken reof-tiles
from the house, The pottery in this layer suggested a date of about
480 B.C, for this destruction which may have come possibly as a

part of the Persian devastation of Athens at this time,
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Further east two walls contemporary with those of House G
were partly clesred. One is parallel to the southeast wall at a
dlstance of 3 m, from it; the second, extending tc the west, abuts
against the first at nearly right angles but is not bonded to 1it.
Both are of ecarefully set rubblb resting upon a stone footing.
The longer wéll, running north and south, was eut through on the
north by a Hellenistie cistern, from which 1t runs 5.80 m. before
1t Adlsaeppears Into the unexcavated area to the south®’ The wall
running east snd west 1s preserved for 1,60 m,, until 1t 1s cut off
by a Byzantine wall., Both walls are 0,30 m. high and 0.45 m, wide,
Just east of the northesouth wall and probably belonging to the same
structure a rectangular pit, 2.70 m. long andhor undetermined width

and depth was partially cleared., Numerous fragments fromhﬁ;n:o-

casting moulds suggest its identlfleatlion as a founky pit. The
floor sround these walls and ebout the mouth of the pit was at about
the same level, 0,14 m, below the top of the walls. The pottery
below the floors and beneath the footing stones belonged, like that
from the gravel £111, to the second half of the sixth century. The
£411 which overlies the walls and fills the foundry pit belongs to
the first decades of the fifth century.

South of Grave 1 an isolated ptretoh of wall running east and
west was cut through by a late fifth century rubbish pit at the west
and by Byzantine filling at the east. Like the other walls to the
north and east it rested upon gravel and was overlald by destruction
debris of the early fifth century. The walls cannot at present
be grouped to form bulldings. All were constructed in a similar
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way and, to judge from the associated f1llings, at about the same
time, namely during the second half of the sixth ecentury. None
survived the Persian sack. From the frequent oeccurrence of stone
echips, slag and bronze fraguents it appeers probable that they
formed parts of buildings at least partly industriel in function.

Pifth Century Remains
House of the Clay Floor and related: In the decades following

the Persiasn wars, a fresh floor of hard white elay was lald over the
1solsted wall to the south and bordering 1it, along its southern edge,
a new and more substantial drainage channel was econstructed, perhaps
in replacement of the little open cover-tile drain seen north of
House G. Flush with the floor, two long pores blocks with a
rectangular trough 12 x 17 em. cut into thelr wupper faces were

placed end to end and the joints sealed with lead. On the west

und, eylindrical terracotte pipes sloping toward the Great Drain
were set into & trench lined with stones, The first pipe was
carefully leaded into the open end of the rectangular trough. The
drain, like the floor, probably belongs to the middle years of the
£1fth century. The duration of 1ts use 1s not so clear, but 1t
probably did not cutlive the house of the e¢lay floor, which is eovered
with burnt layers containing pottery belonging to the last years of

the rifth century.
Oon the higher ground to the east,and slightly to the north,
an eestward extension of the terracotta drain may be followed for
o, LSom. before 1t 1s lost in the unexcavated area. The oonstruction

1g similar to that west of the poros trough: cylindrical pipes set

Pre
into a trech cae 0045 m, wide, the trench lined with stones and 4t=

rsurface o e P pis
wﬁ;d&ov*e?e\dp over with large wall-fragments from storage amphora®.
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There has not yet been sufficient excavation 1n the area to
determine the physical relatlicnship of the drain to the walls in
the area; from the pottery it appears to be contemporary with the
poros trough to the west, and a cutting at the east end of the
poros channel provides for a pipe entering from a higher level to
the northeast.

A rubbish pit, probably belonging to the house of the elay
floor, contained many burnt animal bones (boar, including tusks),
some nearly complete vases, several of them miniature, an unfinished
alabastron of alabaster, and slag and fragments of bronze. A well,
just north of the floor and cut down from a level about equal to
that of the floor was cleared to a depth of 1,35 ms It contained
large storage amrvhorae, smaller vases including the head-vase noted

below, and mch industrial debris - marble end limestone chips in

quantity)enﬁ large chunks of slag and bronze fragments. Floor,

well, rubbish pit and drain appear to have passed out of use at
the end of the fifth century, perhaps due to a purely local cata-
gtrophe or perhaps as a part of the widespread e¢ivil unrest at
this time,

A shortelived oastewest wall was partially cleared, roughly
parallel with the east-west wall of the foundry group. This
résted upon the south corner of House G and was covered over with
mid- fifth century drain f£ill, A serap of floor probably to be
assoslated with this wall, 0.2 m. below it, was cut through by the
drain trench. A longer wall on the extreme eastern limit of the
area explored extends down at least 0.90 me into the foundry pit
£111. A floor belonging to the later fifth century may belong wiph

The date o4 Mme wai 1Relt

1t and may be assoclated with the terracotta drain, ITHe—debing-1is
uncertain; it is later than the foundry plt, but pre-Hellenistiec,
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The character of the bulldings to which these remains belonged
is mainly suggested by the Industrial debris assoclated with them;
iron slag, bronze fragmentes and marble and limestone chips. But
the presence of excellent pottery and table ware, loom-welghts and
spindle-whorls, as well as of kitchen wares showing signs of use

suggests that the buildings were lived in as well as worked 1in,

Fourth Century P1it

Cut into the bedroek above Grave 2 was a rectangular pit

co. 1,60 x O, 60 me X 2,30 m, deep from which at the level of 1its
floor a channel ca, 0,90 m, high and 1.30 m. long slopés slightly
downward toward the south. The pit contained many fragments of
storage amphorae and of black glazed wares of the third quarter of
the fourth ecentury. The walls of the pit were never regularized
and the channel was only roughly blockad out; a rough hollow at
floor level in the blank face of the channel seems to mark the last
stroke of the pick before the project was abandoned. The pit may
have been intended to form a part of some hydrsulic system, but

there are no preclse indicatlions as to its intended function or

as to why work on it was abandoned.

Hellenistiec Cistern
Juet above Grave 3 and overlapping its eastern limits for about

0,30 m. was an unfinished cistern which was cleared to a depth of

1,25 m, Two sets of erudely cut hand-holds, beginning 0,20 m. from
the present mouth in bedrock were found, The cisbern appears to
have been eut down originally from a higher level through the northe

south wall of the foundry pit group. It was clearly never finished,
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the walls being unsmoothed and waterproof stucco never having

been applied. It contained many coarse amphora fragments, roof-
t1les and fregments of blue wall stucco with plaster backing, es
well as Hellenistie pottery covering a wide range of time. The
latest fragments, one sherd each of gray ware and of Arretine,
suggest that the cistern was abandonned at the very end of the
Hellenistic pericd. The house debris found in it suggest destruc=~
tion in the area, perhaps to be connected with the entry of Sulla's

troops into Athens.

The Roman peried is represented in our ares by a single serap

of flooring resting on the Hellenistic level above the foundry walls,

and by o very few sherds,

Great Drain Area

In the extreme north and extreme south of the area were
found two stretches of a heavy north-south wall running parallel te
the east wall of the Great Drain and 1.50 to 2.m. east of 1it. Only
a single ecourse 1s preserved, a double or triple file of large stones,
varying in width from 0,80 to 0.85 ms The north section, 2.10 me
long, rests directly on bedrock. A cutting lems wide in the higher
bedrock just south of the wall continues its line for another 2.20 m.

South of Grave 1, along the west edge of the house of the c¢lay floor,

the watl 1s again preserved, running 35.30 ms south, into the unexca-

vated area., Here 1t rested on more than a meter of earth fills, the
latest of which was the Persian destruetion debris which axtended
under the house of the clay floor. At the extreme south limit of

€he exeavatlon the wall was interrupted by the terracotta water pipds
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west of the poros channel, above which a bridge of smaller stones
(one in situ) continued the heavy walls This stretch must have
been built during the middle years of the fifth century, at a time

when the drain was still respected, unless in fact thst two con-

structions were builé%ng at the seme time, The deposits over the

wall and the surface layer immedlately to the west of 1t towerd the
Grest Drain contained both fifth century and Hellenistlc pottery.
Although the evidence for the dating of the northern stretch of the
well is less abundant it seems generally to sgree with that for the
southe
A series of superimposed firm gravelly road stroses, five

in the north and four in the south, were cut through by the heavy
wall end by blocks of the Great Draln wall. Most of their width
appears to have lain west of the heavy wall, probably extending
over into the Great Drain, The éarllest of these road stroses
pelongs to the late sixth century; above the latest were fifth cen-
tury and Hellenlstic sherds. After the construction of the east
wall of the @reat Draln, the road could gcarecely have retalned
encugh width to have remained usable.

some undisturbed filling behind the Great Drain wall was found
to the northe. Three groups of medium sized fleld stones are
probably remnants of the original packing behind the large squared
blocks fronting the Drailn. Among them were sherds of the late fifth
conturys. Just north of Grave 1 the f£1l1l in the cuttings In bed~
rock made to accomodate the large blocks of the Drain wall eonta’ned
sherds of the late fifth century. Blo cks probably belonging to
later repairs to the Drain were found, but could not be closely dated,
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VARIOUS FINDS
In“#ddition to the vases, weapons, etec. recovered from the
Geometric graves four vases from later periods may be noted.

Just wes=t of House G were found sherds of a fine red-figured
oinochoe of the late archale period which hes been attributed to the
Pan painter (P 20076). The decoration shows 2 single figure, a
£1ying Nike holding in one hand a branch wowAd with a long fillet and
in the other an oinochoe. -

From the same f1l1]l came a fregmentary tPedil¥mouthed oinochoe

inseription, AEMOZION.

of finely polished pinkish buff clay upon the shoulder of which is
painted in black glaze the letters 4 E (P 20234). The inseription
suggests that the jug was intended for some offlelal use, The placing of the
two letters indicates that there would have been space for the full

From the Persian destruction f1ll under the house of the clay

floor came five wall fragments from a calyx-krater (P 20244) which

has been assigned to the Kleophrades painter, Of the two figured

fregments one preserves most of the head of an elderly male figure
with part of his sceptre or staff. His haly beard and moustache are
rendered in fine wavy lines in white and about his head i1s a double-
gtranded purple fillet. The second shows the right arm and much of
the right side of a youth wearing a sleeved chiton and shert cloak.

A fragment from a head vase (P 20253) came from the late fifth
eontury well assoeiated with the house of the clay floor, It pre-
gserves most of the face and neck of a woman, with part of her wreath
and necklace, The closest parallels for this plece appear to be in
Baazley's Group W (J.H.S. 49, 1929, pp. 74-75), especially the mug with
an idealized female head,Pritish Museum I 790 (C.V.A., British Museum, [T [c
Ple 37, 5.5 Great-Britfin; Pl 250+5), which Beazley dates to around
400 B.C. lMuch thick matt white paint remains on our plece, and some

trages of black glaze used as an adhesive both for the two parts of
the mould and for the raised dots of the nescklace,
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